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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

12. 所得稅（開支）／抵免
於綜合全面收益表確認之所得稅金額指：

截至二零二五年及二零二四年六月三十日

止年度，合資格集團實體之香港利得稅乃

以首2,000,000港元估計應課稅盈利按稅率
8.25%及超過2,000,000港元之估計應課稅盈
利按稅率16.5%計算。其他集團實體的香港
利得稅乃按估計盈利的16.5%計算。由於本
公司於香港之附屬公司並無應課稅盈利，

故並無於兩個年度的綜合財務報表內計提

香港即期所得稅撥備。

除從事博彩業務的集團實體外，截至二零

二五年六月三十日止年度，本公司之菲律

賓附屬公司須按稅率 25%（二零二四年：
25%）繳納企業所得稅。本公司於菲律賓經
營業務之附屬公司於截至二零二五年及二

零二四年六月三十日止年度向其海外直接

控股公司派付之股息涉及之預扣稅稅率為

15%。根據Philippine Amusement and Gaming 
Corporation章程（「PAGCOR章程」），在菲律
賓從事博彩業務的集團實體獲豁免繳納菲

律賓企業所得稅（其中包括其他稅項），乃

由於其須就菲律賓的博彩總收入繳納5%博
彩稅，以代替所有其他稅項。

截至二零二五年及二零二四年六月三十日

止年度，本公司之澳門附屬公司須按稅率

12%繳納澳門利得稅。由於本集團於澳門之
業務並無應課稅盈利，故並無於兩個年度

的綜合財務報表內計提澳門稅項撥備。

12. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT
The amount of income tax recognised in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income represents:

2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二四年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Current tax 即期稅項   
— Current year — 本年度 (17,818) –

Deferred tax credit (Note 27) 遞延稅項抵免（附註27） 8,638 30,282
    

Income tax (expense)/credit 所得稅（開支）╱抵免 (9,180) 30,282
    

Hong Kong profits tax for the qualifying group entity is calculated 
at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits 
and 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for 
the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. Hong Kong profits tax for 
other group entities is calculated at 16.5% on the estimated profits. 
No provision for current income tax in Hong Kong was made in the 
consolidated financial statements for both years as the Company’s 
subsidiaries in Hong Kong had no assessable profits.

Except for group entities engage in gaming business, the businesses 
of the Company’s subsidiaries in the Philippines are subject to 
the corporate income tax rate of 25% for the year ended 30 June 
2025 (2024: 25%). The withholding tax rate in respect of a dividend 
distributed by a subsidiary of the Company operating in the 
Philippines to its overseas immediate holding company is 15% for 
the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. The group entities engage 
in gaming business in the Philippines are exempt from Philippine 
corporate income tax, among other taxes, pursuant to the Philippine 
Amusement and Gaming Corporation charter (“PAGCOR charter”) 
as a result of payments the 5% gaming tax based on gross gaming 
revenue in the Philippines, in lieu of all other taxes.

The Company’s subsidiary in Macau is subject to Macau profits tax 
rate of 12% for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. No provision 
for taxation in Macau was made in the consolidated financial 
statements for both years as the Group’s operations in Macau had no 
assessable profits.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

12. 所得稅（開支）／抵免（續）
本集團在支柱二規則生效或已頒佈但尚未

生效的若干司法權區營運。然而，由於本

集團的綜合年度收入預期不足750百萬歐
元，故本集團管理層認為，本集團毋須根

據支柱二規則繳納補足稅。

於二零二五年六月三十日，本公司間接全

資附屬公司MSPI與BIR之間存在有關二零零
八年、二零一二年、二零一四年、二零一五

年、二零一八年及二零一九年曆年合共約

為5,009,650,000披索（相當於約695,003,000港
元（二零二四年：670,691,000港元））的所得
稅及其他稅項的稅務糾紛案件。

有關涉及二零零八年、二零一二年、二零

一四年、二零一五年及二零一八年曆年的

宣稱所得稅及其他稅項差額，尚待 BIR或
Court of Tax Appeal（「CTA」）最終裁決。

12. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT (Continued)

The Group operates in certain jurisdictions where the Pillar Two Rules 
are effective or enacted but not effective. However, as the Group’s 
consolidated annual revenue is expected to be less than EUR750 
million, the management of the Group considered the Group is not 
liable to top-up tax under the Pillar Two Rules.

2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二四年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Loss before taxation 除稅前虧損 (272,965) (162,246)
    

Taxation at the principal tax rates applicable  
to profits in the country concerned

按有關國家適用於盈利之

 主要稅率計算之稅項 (68,241) (40,560)
Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries 附屬公司不同稅率之影響 7,307 21,692
Tax effect of expenses not deductible  

for tax purpose
不可扣稅開支之稅務影響

20,846 11,884
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose 毋須課稅收入之稅務影響 (1,181) (50,726)
Tax effect of net income derived from leasing 

of properties to PAGCOR not taxable for tax 
purpose

向PAGCOR出租物業所產生 
毋須課稅收入淨額之 
稅務影響 – (42,489)

Tax effect of tax losses and deductible  
temporary differences not recognised

未確認稅項虧損及可扣減暫時

 差額之稅務影響 50,449 69,917
    

Income tax expense/(credit) for the year 年內所得稅開支╱（抵免） 9,180 (30,282)
    

At 30 June 2025, there are taxes dispute cases for income tax and 
other taxes between MSPI, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of 
the Company and BIR in the Philippines for the calendar years of 
2008, 2012, 2014, 2015, 2018 and 2019 in aggregate of around Peso 
5,009,650,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$695,003,000 (2024: 
HK$670,691,000)).

For the alleged deficiency in income tax and other taxes covering 
the calendar year of 2008, 2012, 2014, 2015 and 2018, it is pending 
for final decisions from BIR or Court of Tax Appeal (“CTA”).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

12. 所得稅（開支）／抵免（續）
有關涉及二零一九年曆年的宣稱所得稅及

其他稅項差額，MSPI於二零二三年向BIR提
出行政抗辯並要求重新調查。BIR拒絕MSPI
的要求，而MSPI於二零二四年五月收到BIR
就二零一九年曆年有爭議的評估的最終決

定。MSPI於二零二四年六月就 BIR對二零
一九年曆年的評估向CTA提交覆核呈請，並
於二零二五年三月舉行預審會議。截至本

綜合財務報表授權日止此案件仍在審理中。

本公司董事認為，在 BIR或 CTA作出最終
裁決前，BIR接納上述稅務糾紛相關不確
定所得稅約 3,485,650,000披索（相當於約
483,627,000港元（二零二四年：466,658,000
港元））處理的可能性不大。根據MSPI獨立
稅項及法律顧問的意見，本公司董事相信，

最可能的結果為MSPI具備有效法律論據就
上述所得稅及其他稅務糾紛抗辯，且毋須

承擔補繳稅項責任，故本集團並無於截至

二零二五年及二零二四年六月三十日止年

度之綜合財務報表就有關所得稅糾紛作出

所得稅撥備。

此外，其他稅項之稅務糾紛可能需要承擔

責任（其存在僅在出現或並無出現不完全

受MSPI控制之一項或多項未來不明確事件
之情況下方能確認），而有關責任可能需要

或毋需初步撥出資源處理，故本公司董事

已作出估計，於二零二五年六月三十日，

涉及二零零八年、二零一二年、二零一四

年、二零一五年、二零一八年及二零一九

年曆年之宣稱其他稅項差額之或然負債，

指MSPI收到的有爭議的評稅金額合共約
1,524,000,000披索（相當於約211,376,000港元
（二零二四年：204,033,000港元）），以及BIR
可能就應課稅年度評定的額外罰款、附加

費或利息負債，該等金額是否存在僅可根

據其他稅務糾紛案件的發展情況予以確認，

作為可能需要撥出之資源。

13. 股息
董事會不建議就截至二零二五年六月三十

日止年度派付末期股息（二零二四年：無）。

12. INCOME TAX (EXPENSE)/CREDIT (Continued)

For the alleged deficiency in income tax and other taxes covering 
the calendar year of 2019, MSPI filed administrative protests with 
BIR and request for reinvestigation during 2023. The BIR rejected 
MSPI’s request and MSPI received BIR’s final decision on disputed 
assessment for the calendar year of 2019 in May 2024. MSPI 
filed petition for review with CTA for BIR’s assessments for the 
calendar year of 2019 on June 2024 and pre-trial conference was 
held on March 2025. The case is still under hearing up to date of 
authorisation of these consolidation financial statements.

The directors of the Company considered it is not probable BIR 
will accept the uncertain income tax treatments related to above 
income tax disputes of around Peso 3,485,650,000 (equivalent to 
approximately HK$483,627,000 (2024: HK$466,658,000)) before final 
decisions from BIR or CTA. Based on the advices of the independent 
tax and legal advisors of MSPI, the directors of the Company 
believe that the most likely outcome is MSPI would have valid legal 
arguments to defend the above income and other tax disputes with 
no deficiency taxes liable, no provision for income tax has been 
made for the income tax disputes in the consolidated financial 
statements of the Group for the years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024. 

In additions, the tax disputes for other taxes represent possible 
obligations (existence of which can only be confirmed by the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future 
events not wholly within the control of MSPI) which may or may not 
require an initial outflow of resources, the directors of the Company 
estimate that as at 30 June 2025, the contingent liabilities in respect 
of the alleged deficiency in other taxes of MSPI covering the calendar 
years of 2008, 2012, 2014, 2015, 2018 and 2019, represents the stated 
amounts in the disputed assessments received by MSPI in aggregate 
of around Peso 1,524,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$211,376,000 (2024: HK$204,033,000)) and possible additional 
penalties, surcharge or interest liability that may be assessed by BIR 
for the taxable years which existence can only be confirmed based 
on developments of the other taxes disputes cases, as a possible 
outflow of resources.

13. DIVIDEND
The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for 
the year ended 30 June 2025 (2024: nil).
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For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

14. 每股虧損
本公司擁有人應佔每股基本及攤薄虧損乃

根據下列數據計算：

計算截至二零二五年及二零二四年六月

三十日止年度之每股攤薄虧損並無假設轉

換本公司尚未行使之可換股債券，原因為

其假設行使將產生反攤薄效應。

計算截至二零二四年六月三十日止年度之

每股攤薄虧損並無假設行使本公司尚未行

使之購股權，原因為該等購股權之行使價

高於年內股份之平均市價。

於二零二三年八月八日，經本公司購股權

承授人同意，董事會議決註銷所有當時尚

未行使的購股權。

14. LOSS PER SHARE
The basic and diluted loss per share attributable to the owners of the 
Company are calculated as follows:

2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二四年

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Loss for the year 年內虧損 (282,145) (131,964)
    

2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二四年

’000 ’000
千股 千股

Number of shares 股份數目
Weighted average number of ordinary  

shares for the purposes of basic and  
diluted loss per share

用以計算每股基本及攤薄 
虧損之普通股 
加權平均數 1,369,157 1,369,157

    

2025 2024
二零二五年 二零二四年

HK$ Cents HK$ Cents
港仙 港仙

Loss per share 每股虧損

Basic 基本 (20.61) (9.64)
    

Diluted 攤薄 (20.61) (9.64)
    

The computation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 
30 June 2025 and 2024 does not assume the conversion of the 
Company’s outstanding convertible bond since their assumed 
exercise would have anti-dilutive effect.

The computation of diluted loss per share for the year ended 30 June 
2024 does not assume the exercise of the Company’s outstanding 
share options as the exercise price of those options was higher than 
the average market price for shares for the year.

On 8 August 2023, with the consent of the grantees of the 
Company’s share options, the board of directors resolved to cancel 
all the then outstanding share options.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Leasehold 

improvements
Construction 

in progress Machinery

Furniture, 
fixtures and 

equipment
Entertainment 

equipment
Computer 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles Total

樓宇 租賃裝修 在建工程 機器
傢私、裝置
及設備 娛樂設備 電腦設備 汽車 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元

Cost: 成本：

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年 
七月一日 435,695 8,905 – 94,605 91,151 160,404 116 1,710 792,586

Additions 添置 – 16,505 – 6,388 1,546 31,253 80 – 55,772
Transfer from 

investment 
properties (note 16)

由投資物業轉撥 
（附註16）

953,772 – – – – – – – 953,772
Written-off 撇銷 – (1,399) – – – (951) – – (2,350)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 (57,123) (966) – (5,440) (5,079) (9,899) – (100) (78,607)           

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年 
六月三十日 1,332,344 23,045 – 95,553 87,618 180,807 196 1,610 1,721,173

Additions 添置 30,197 1,160 121,015 23,684 7,677 93,008 – 13 276,754
Transfer to investment 

properties (Note 16)
由投資物業轉撥 
（附註16） (354,000) – – – – – – – (354,000)

Written-off 撇銷 (114,348) – – – – – – – (114,348)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 48,165 257 557 3,464 3,173 6,554 – 58 62,228           

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年 
六月三十日 942,358 24,462 121,572 122,701 98,468 280,369 196 1,681 1,591,807           

Accumulated 
depreciation and 
impairment loss:

累計折舊及 
減值虧損：

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年 
七月一日 321,044 7,475 – 88,395 90,650 141,841 106 1,666 651,177

Charge for the year 年內扣除 23,260 25 – 2,627 1,564 12,384 17 22 39,899
Written-off 撇銷 – (1,399) – – – (951) – – (2,350)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 (18,476) (378) – (4,963) (5,054) (8,167) – (97) (37,135)           

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年 
六月三十日 325,828 5,723 – 86,059 87,160 145,107 123 1,591 651,591

Charge for the year 年內扣除 64,486 36 – 6,638 1,117 18,621 28 39 90,965
Transfer to investment 

properties (Note 16)
由投資物業轉撥 
（附註16） (19,178) – – – – – – – (19,178)

Written-off 撇銷 (4,479) – – – – – – – (4,479)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 57,037 778 – 3,288 3,185 15,484 – 9 79,781           

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年 
六月三十日 423,694 6,537 – 95,985 91,462 179,212 151 1,639 798,680           

Carrying amount: 賬面值：

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年 
六月三十日 518,664 17,925 121,572 26,716 7,006 101,157 45 42 793,127

           

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年 
六月三十日 1,006,516 17,322 – 9,494 458 35,700 73 19 1,069,582

           

15. 物業、廠房及設備
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment tests for Hotel operation CGU

The group of non-current non-financial assets included in Hotel 
operation segment (“Hotel operation CGU”) is tested for 
impairment as the hotel operation segment recorded a segment 
loss during the year. For the purpose of impairment testing, carrying 
amount of property, plant and equipment of HK$129,677,000 (2024: 
HK$121,909,000), right-of-use assets (included allocated corporate 
asset) of HK$10,141,000 (2024: HK$16,582,000) of the Group were 
allocated to the Hotel operation CGU. The recoverable amount of the 
Hotel operation CGU has been determined by fair value less costs 
of disposal (“FVLCOD”) with reference to the valuation prepared by 
Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and Advisory Limited (“JLL”), 
an independent professional valuer not connected to the Group. 
The fair value of the Hotel operation CGU were measured using 
income capitalisation approach with use of significant unobservable 
inputs and hence were classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 
There were no transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year. Key 
assumptions used in calculating the recoverable amount are as 
follows:

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

Long term growth rate of revenue 收入長期增長率 3.5% 3.5%
Discount rate 折算率 11.0% 12.0%
Capitalisation rate 資本化比率 7.5% 8.5%
    

Based on management’s assessment in impairment test of Hotel 
operation CGU, no impairment loss is recognised or reversed in profit 
or loss in 2025 and 2024.

15. 物業、廠房及設備（續）
酒店營運現金產生單位之減值測試
計入酒店營運分部（「酒店營運現金產生單
位」）的非流動非金融資產組別進行減值測
試，乃由於酒店營運分部於年內錄得分部

虧損。就減值測試而言，本集團物業、廠

房及設備賬面值129,677,000港元（二零二四
年：121,909,000港元）、使用權資產（包括已
分配企業資產）賬面值10,141,000港元（二零
二四年：16,582,000港元）分配至酒店營運現
金產生單位。酒店營運現金產生單位可收

回金額根據與本集團並無關連之獨立專業

估值師仲量聯行企業評估及咨詢有限公司

（「仲量聯行」）編製之估值按公平值減出售
成本（「公平值減出售成本」）釐定。酒店營
運現金產生單位的公平值乃使用收入資本

化法進行計量，並使用重大不可觀察輸入

數據，故被分類為公平值層級第三級。年

內第三級並無任何轉入或轉出。計算可收

回金額所使用的關鍵假設如下：

根據管理層對酒店營運現金產生單位之減

值測試的評估，於二零二五年及二零二四

年並無於損益中確認或撥回減值虧損。
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15. 物業、廠房及設備（續）
博彩營運現金產生單位之減值測試
計入博彩營運分部（「博彩營運現金產生單
位」）各現金產生單位中的非流動非金融
資產組別進行減值測試，乃由於博彩營運

分部於本年度錄得分部虧損。就減值測試

而言，本集團的物業、廠房及設備賬面值

663,379,000港元、無形資產賬面值2,087,000
港元、使用權資產（包括已分配企業資產）

賬面值22,660,000港元及收購廠房及設備之
預付款項賬面值58,111,000港元分配至博彩
營運現金產生單位。博彩業務現金產生單

位可收回金額乃參考仲量聯行所編製之估

值按使用價值（「使用價值」）釐定。該計算
使用基於管理層批准的涵蓋五年期的財務

預算的預期現金流量預測，平均年度收益

增長率為15.7%，而超過五年期的現金流量
使用3%的穩定增長率推算。增長率乃基於
行業預測，並不超過博彩業的平均長期增

長率。使用價值計算的其他主要假設包括

稅前貼現率19.3%、預算開支及預期現金流
入及流出模式（根據管理層對市場發展的預

期估計）。根據評估結果，使用價值超過博

彩營運現金產生單位之賬面值，故並無確

認減值虧損。

於二零二四年，自二零二四年五月從

PAGCOR接管本集團物業的博彩業務以來，
管理層審閱本集團計入博彩營運現金產生

單位之非金融資產組別（包括轉撥自投資物

業的業主自用物業）的外部及內部資料來

源，認為並無減值虧損跡象，故並無於截

至二零二四年六月三十日止年度的損益中

確認減值虧損。

15. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Impairment test for Gaming operation CGUs

The group of non-current non-financial assets in various CGUs 
included in Gaming operation segment (“Gaming operation 
CGUs”) is tested for impairment as the gaming operation segment 
recorded a segment loss during the year. For the purpose of 
impairment testing, carrying amount of property, plant and 
equipment of HK$663,379,000, intangible asset of HK$2,087,000, 
right-of-use assets (included allocated corporate asset) of 
HK$22,660,000, prepayment for acquisition of plant and equipment 
of HK$58,111,000 of the Group were allocated to the Gaming 
operation CGUs. The recoverable amount of the Gaming operation 
CGUs has been determined by value in use (“VIU”) with reference 
to the valuation prepared by JLL. That calculation uses expected 
cash flow projections based on financial budget approved by the 
management covering a five years period, with average annual 
revenue growth rate of 15.7%, and cash flows beyond the five-
year period are extrapolated using a steady growth rate of 3%. The 
growth rate is based on the forecasts of the industry and does not 
exceed the average long-term growth rate for the gaming industry. 
Other key assumptions for the value in use calculation included pre-
tax discount rate of 19.3%, budgeted expenses and the expected 
cash inflows and outflows patterns, estimated based on the 
management’s expectation of the market development. Based on 
the result of the assessment, VIU exceeded the carrying amount of 
the Gaming operation CGUs and no impairment loss is recognised.

In 2024, since takeover of casino operation in the Group’s premises 
from PAGCOR completed in May 2024, management review 
external and internal source of information for the group of non-
financial assets (including the owner occupied property transferred 
from investment properties) included in Gaming operation CGUs, 
considered no indicator of impairment loss, no impairment loss is 
recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 30 June 2024.
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Total
總計

HK$’000
千港元

FAIR VALUE 公平值
At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日 989,000
Fair value loss 公平值虧損 (14,145)
Exchange adjustment 匯兌調整 (21,083)
Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 轉撥至物業、廠房及設備（附註15） (953,772)
   

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 –
Transfer from property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 轉撥至物業、廠房及設備（附註15） 334,822
Gain on revaluation of owner-occupied properties  

upon transfer to investment properties
業主自用物業轉撥至 
投資物業的重估收益 19,178

Fair value loss 公平值虧損 (23,315)
Exchange adjustment 匯兌調整 5,315
   

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 336,000
   

The above investment properties are located in the Philippines. The 
Group’s property interest held to earn rentals is measured using the 
fair value model and is accounted for as investment property. On 
9 May 2024, the entire investment properties represent the casino 
and office floors previously leased to PAGCOR were transferred to 
“property, plant and equipment” upon the commencement of the 
gaming operation by the Group with fair value of HK$953,772,000 
at the date of change in use as its deemed cost. During the year, the 
Group has leased certain area inside its hotel and casino complex to 
an independent tenant for authorised gaming operation, carrying 
amount of HK$334,822,000 were transferred from “property, plant 
and equipment” when there was evidence of change in use. 
Difference between fair value at date of transfer of HK$354,000,000 
and the carrying amount transferred from “property, plant and 
equipment” of HK$334,822,000, amounting to HK$19,178,000 before 
related income tax, is recognised in revaluation reserve through 
other comprehensive income.

The fair values at date of transfer and year end date have been 
arrived at based on a valuation carried out by JLL, independent 
professional valuer not connected with the Group. JLL is a member 
of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors.

16. 投資物業

上述投資物業位於菲律賓。本集團持作賺

取租金之物業權益按公平值模式計量，並

作為投資物業列賬。於二零二四年五月九

日，全部投資物業（即先前租賃予PAGCOR
的賭場及辦公室樓層）於本集團開始營運博

彩營運後轉撥至「物業、廠房及設備」，其

於變更用途日期的公平值為953,772,000港
元，作為視作成本。於本年度，本集團已

將其酒店及賭場綜合項目內的若干區域租

賃予一名獨立租戶以經營獲授權博彩營運，

賬面值334,822,000港元已於有證據顯示用
途變更時自「物業、廠房及設備」轉撥。於

轉撥日期的公平值354,000,000港元與自「物
業、廠房及設備」轉撥的賬面值334,822,000
港元之間的差額19,178,000港元（扣除相關
所得稅前）透過其他全面收益於重估儲備確

認。

轉撥日及年結日的公平值乃根據與本集團

並無關連之獨立專業估值師仲量聯行進行

之估值釐定。仲量聯行為香港測量師學會

會員。
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16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The fair values were determined based on the income approach, 
where capitalising the estimated net income derived from the 
investment properties with reference to the lease agreements 
and taking into account the future growth potential base on latest 
market condition. The discount rate was determined by reference 
to weighted average cost of capital of the listed companies with 
similar business portfolio. Key assumptions used in calculating the 
fair values are as follows:

At 30 June
2025

於二零二五年
六月三十日

Monthly rent per square metre 每平方米月租 Peso 14,000披索
Long term growth rate of revenue 收入長期增長率 3.5%
Discount rate 折算率 12%
Capitalisation rate 資本化比率 7.5%
   

The fair values of the investment properties were measured using 
valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs and hence 
were classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no 
transfer into or out of Level 3 during the year.

The fair value measurement is based on the above properties’ 
highest and best use, which does not differ from their actual use.

In addition, significant judgement is required when evaluating the 
inputs used in the fair value measurement. Reasonably possible 
changes at the reporting date to any of the relevant assumptions 
would have resulted decrease in fair value of the investment 
properties (vice versa) as presented below:

At 30 June
2025

於二零二五年
六月三十日

HK$’000
千港元

Discount rate increased by 1% 折算率增加1% (4,000)
Rental growth rate decreased by 1% 租金增長率減少1% (2,000)
Capitalisation rate increased by 1% 資本化比率增加1% (5,000)
   

16. 投資物業（續）
公平值以收入法釐定，當中參考租賃協議

並計及最新市況下的未來增長潛力，將投

資物業產生的估計淨收入資本化。折算率

參考具備相若業務組合之上市公司之加權

平均資本成本釐定。計算公平值所用主要

假設如下：

投資物業之公平值按使用重大不可觀察輸

入數據之估值技術計量，故分類為公平值

層級第三級。年內第三級並無任何轉入或

轉出。

公平值計量乃以上述物業之最高及最佳用

途（與彼等之實際用途無異）為基準。

此外，評估公平值計量所用輸入數據時需

要作出重大判斷。於報告日期，任何相關

假設的合理可能變動將導致投資物業公平

值減少（反之亦然），呈列如下：
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17. INTANGIBLE ASSET

Computer 
software
電腦軟件

HK$’000
千港元

Cost: 成本：

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日 –
Additions 添置 10,495   

As at 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 10,495
Additions 添置 2,237   

As at 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 12,732   

Accumulated amortisation: 累計攤銷：

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日 –
Charge for the year 年內扣除 (3,586)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 (12)   

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 (3,598)
Charge for the year 年內扣除 (3,744)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 (4)   

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 (7,346)   

Carrying amount: 賬面值：

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 5,386
   

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 6,897
   

As at 30 June 2025, the management of the Group has conducted 
impairment testing on certain right-of-use assets included in the 
Hotel and Gaming operation CGUs, with details as set out in Note 15.

17. 無形資產

於二零二五年六月三十日，本集團管理層

已對計入酒店及博彩營運現金產生單位的

若干使用權資產進行減值測試，詳情載於

附註15。
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18. LOAN RECEIVABLES, AMOUNTS DUE FROM/
TO ASSOCIATES
As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the Group’s loan receivables represent 
three loans to associates as below:

(a) A loan advance with principal amount of Peso 338,000,000 
(equivalent to HK$46,892,000 (2024: HK$45,285,000)) was 
granted in prior years to Harbor View Properties and Holdings, 
Inc. (“HVPHI”), which is an associate of the Company. The loan 
is interest bearing at 3.5% per annum and the whole principal 
amount is repayable on 3 August 2032.

The loan was secured by a parcel of land owned by HVPHI. 
Management considered that the estimated fair value of 
the collateral was not less than the carrying amount of the 
respective loan receivable as at 30 June 2025 and 2024, no 
material expected credit loss is recognised.

The Group also granted another loan with principal 
amount of Peso 92,000,000 (equivalent to HK$12,798,000 
(2024: HK$12,317,000)) in prior years to HVPHI. The loan is 
interest bearing at 3.5% per annum, repayable on demand 
and unsecured. The Group does not intend to request 
for repayment within twelve months after the end of the 
reporting period.

(b) A  loan  fac i l i t y  o f  Peso  500 ,000 ,000  (equ iva lent  to 
HK$69,366,000) has granted to Pacific Bayview Properties, Inc. 
(“PBBI”) during the year, which is the wholly owned subsidiary 
of Blue Marine Properties, Inc., an associate of the Company. 
The loan is interest bearing at 6% per annum and repayable 
from 3 years from date of drawdown. Peso 290,500,000 
(equivalent to HK$40,302,000) was drawn down during the 
year.

The loan was secured by condominium properties owned by 
PBPI. Management considered that the estimated fair value of 
these collaterals was not less than the carrying amount of the 
loan receivable as at 30 June 2025, no material expected credit 
loss is recognised.

Amounts due from/to associates are unsecured, repayable on 
demand and non-interest bearing.

18. 應收貸款、應收╱應付聯營公司款
項
於二零二五年及二零二四年六月三十日，

本集團之應收貸款指下列向聯營公司提供

之三筆貸款：

(a) 本公司於過往年度向本公司之聯營公司

Harbor View Properties and Holdings, Inc.
（「HVPHI」）授出本金額為338,000,000
披索（相當於46,892,000港元（二零二四
年：45,285,000港元））之貸款墊款。該
貸款按年利率3.5%計息，且全數本金
額須於二零三二年八月三日償還。

該貸款以HVPHI擁有之土地作抵押。
管理層認為，該抵押品之估計公平值

不少於二零二五年及二零二四年六月

三十日相關應收貸款之賬面值，且並

無確認重大預期信貸虧損。

本集團亦於過往年度向HVPHI授出
另一筆本金額為 92,000,000披索（相
當於 12,798,000港元（二零二四年：
12,317,000港元））的貸款。該貸款按
年利率3.5%計息、須按要求償還及無
抵押。本集團無意於報告期間完結後

十二個月內要求還款。

(b) 於本年度，本公司向 Pacific Bayview 
Properties, Inc.（「PBPI」）授出貸款融資
500,000,000披索（相當於69,366,000港
元），該公司為Blue Marine Properties, 
Inc.之全資附屬公司及本公司之聯營
公司。該貸款按年利率 6%計息，並
須於提取日期起計 3年內償還。本
年度已提取290,500,000披索（相當於
40,302,000港元）。

該貸款以PBPI擁有之公寓物業作抵押。
管理層認為，該等抵押品之估計公平

值不少於截至二零二五年六月三十日

應收貸款之賬面值，且並無確認重大

預期信貸虧損。

應收╱應付聯營公司款項為無抵押、按要

求償還及免息。
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Share of net assets 分佔資產淨值 43,303 36,187
    

Particulars of the Group’s associates are as follows:

Name of associates Principal activities

Place of
incorporation
and operations

Percentage
held by the Group

聯營公司名稱 主要業務
註冊成立及
經營地點

本集團
所持百分比

%

Harbor View Properties and Holdings, Inc. Property developer the Philippines 40
Harbor View Properties and Holdings, Inc. 物業發展商 菲律賓

Blue Marine Properties, Inc. Investment holdings the Philippines 40
Blue Marine Properties, Inc. 投資控股 菲律賓

19. 於聯營公司之權益

本集團之聯營公司之詳情如下：
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19. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(a) Harbor View Properties and Holdings, Inc.

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Current assets 流動資產 59,988 56,636
Non-current assets 非流動資產 175,910 170,086
Current liabilities 流動負債 (97,491) (110,543)
Non-current liabilities 非流動負債 (59,575) (57,612)
    

Net assets 資產淨值 78,832 58,567
    

Net assets attributable to owners  
of the equity

權益擁有人應佔資產淨值
78,832 58,567

    

Group’s share of the net assets  
of the associate

本集團分佔聯營公司資產淨值
31,533 23,426

    

Year ended
30 June

2025

Year ended
30 June

2024
截至

二零二五年
六月三十日

止年度

截至

二零二四年

六月三十日

止年度

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Revenue 收入 5,774 1,202
    

Profit/(loss) for the year 年內溢利╱（虧損） 17,773 (5,358)
    

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 全面收益╱（虧損）總額 17,773 (5,358)
    

Dividends received from the associate 已收聯營公司股息 – –
    

19. 於聯營公司之權益（續）
(a) H a r b o r  V i e w  P r o p e r t i e s  a n d 

Holdings, Inc.
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19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

(b) Blue Marine Properties, Inc.

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Current assets 流動資產 17,750 12,937
Non-current assets 非流動資產 106,829 83,152
Current liabilities 流動負債 (34,542) (44,317)
Non-current liabilities 非流動負債 (60,611) (19,869)    

Net assets 資產淨值 29,426 31,903
    

Net assets attributable to owners of  
the equity

權益擁有人應佔資產淨值
29,426 31,903

    

Group’s share of the net assets of  
the associate

本集團分佔聯營公司資產淨值
11,770 12,761

    

Year ended
30 June

2025

Year ended
30 June

2024
截至

二零二五年
六月三十日

止年度

截至

二零二四年

六月三十日

止年度

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Revenue 收入 5,222 4,605
    

Loss for the year 年內虧損 (3,559) (4,866)
    

Total comprehensive loss 全面虧損總額 (3,559) (4,866)
    

Dividends received from the associate 已收聯營公司股息 – –
    

19. 於聯營公司之權益（續）
(b) Blue Marine Properties, Inc.
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19. INTEREST IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

The summarised movements of interest in associates during the year 
are as below:

Year ended
30 June

2025

Year ended
30 June

2024
截至

二零二五年
六月三十日

止年度

截至
二零二四年
六月三十日

止年度
HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

At beginning of the year 於年初 36,187 42,479
Share of results of associates 分佔聯營公司業績 5,686 (4,090)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 1,430 (2,202)    

At end of the year 於年末 43,303 36,187
    

20. LEASE
During the year, the Group leases various offices, land and staff 
quarters for its operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed 
term of 2 to 36 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual 
basis and contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. 
In determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non-
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract and 
determines the period for which the contract is enforceable.

Right-of-use assets
The analysis of the net carrying amount of leased properties 
recognised as right-of-use assets is as follows:

Land Properties Total
土地 物業 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日 11,293 15,549 26,842
Depreciation for the year 年內折舊 (352) (2,986) (3,338)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 (612) (753) (1,365)     

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 10,329 11,810 22,139

Additions 添置 – 16,444 16,444
Depreciation for the year 年內折舊 (345) (5,954) (6,299)
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 368 394 762     

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 10,352 22,694 33,046
     

As at 30 June 2025, the management of the Group has conducted 
impairment testing on certain right-of-use assets included in the 
Hotel and Gaming operation CGUs, with details as set out in Note 15.

19. 於聯營公司之權益（續）
年內於聯營公司之權益變動概要如下：

20. 租賃
年內，本集團租賃多處辦公室、土地及員

工宿舍供營運之用。租約按固定年期2至36
年訂立。租約條款按個別基準釐定，包含

一系列不同條款及條件。釐定租期及評估

不可撤銷期間時長時，本集團應用合約之

定義並釐定合約可執行期間。

使用權資產
確認為使用權資產之租賃物業賬面淨值分

析如下：

於二零二五年六月三十日，本集團管理層

已對計入酒店及博彩營運現金產生單位所

的若干使用權資產進行減值測試，詳情載

於附註15。
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20. LEASE (Continued)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during 
the year are as follows:

Land Properties Total
土地 物業 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日 13,159 22,143 35,302
Lease payments 租賃付款 (965) (4,895) (5,860)
Interest expenses 利息開支 860 2,316 3,176
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 (723) (1,132) (1,855)     

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 12,331 18,432 30,763

Additions 添置 – 16,444 16,444
Lease payments 租賃付款 (946) (7,714) (8,660)
Interest expenses 利息開支 835 3,111 3,946
Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 445 636 1,081     

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 12,665 30,909 43,574
     

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Current 流動 7,022 2,894
Non-current 非流動 36,552 27,869
    

43,574 30,763
    

20. 租賃（續）
租賃負債
年內租賃負債賬面值及變動如下：
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE 
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss include the 
following:

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Unlisted investment fund (Note) 非上市投資基金（附註） 4,423 4,481
    

Note:

The unlisted investment fund represented approximately 48% (2024: 48%) 
interests in Foresight Fund III Limited Partnership (the “Foresight Fund” (Formerly 
known as Hantal Capital Fund II Limited Partnership)).

The Foresight Fund was established principally to achieve long-term capital 
appreciation primarily through privately-negotiated investments in companies 
and/or its affiliates which is/are engaged in the production and distribution of 
the sports events and entertainment content and sports media rights market. The 
Group is a limited partner in the Foresight Fund and does not have control nor 
significant influence in the Foresight Fund’s operational and financing decisions.

The directors of the Company have determined the fair value of its interest held 
in the Foresight Fund as at 30 June 2025 with reference to the valuation report 
issued by, an independent professional valuer who has professional qualifications 
and relevant experience. The fair value of the Foresight Fund is determined by 
NAV summation method with fair value of underlying investment determined by 
market approach, with references to comparable companies benchmark multiples. 
During the year ended 30 June 2025, the Group recognised a fair value loss of 
HK$533,000 (2024: HK$723,000) in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income.

21. 按公平值計入損益之金融資產

按公平值計入損益之金融資產包括以下各項：

附註：

非上市投資基金指於 Foresight Fund I I I  L imited 
Partnership （「Foresight Fund」)（前稱Hantal Capital 
Fund II Limited Partnership）的約48%（二零二四年：
48%）權益。

成立Foresight Fund之主要目的為實現長期資本增值，
主要透過私下磋商投資於從事製作及分銷體育活動、

娛樂內容及體育賽事媒體轉播權之公司及╱或其聯

屬公司。本集團為Foresight Fund之有限合夥人，對
Foresight Fund之營運及融資決策並無控制權或重大
影響力。

本公司董事已參照具備專業資格及相關經驗之獨

立專業估值師發出之估值報告，釐定其於Foresight 
Fund持有之權益於二零二五年六月三十日之公平值。
Foresight Fund之公平值採用資產淨值總和法且相關
投資之公平值採用市場法參照可資比較公司之基準

倍數釐定。截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度，本

集團於綜合全面收益表內確認公平值虧損533,000港
元（二零二四年：723,000港元）。
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Trade receivables 應收賬項 42,818 1,972
Less: provision for expected credit losses 減：預期信貸虧損撥備 (5,213) (574)
    

37,605 1,398
    

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables net of 
allowance for credit loss at the end of the reporting period presented 
based on invoice date or recognition date.

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

0–30 days 0至30日 22,211 1,025
31–60 days 31至60日 7,160 –
61–90 days 61至90日 5,713 23
Over 90 days 超過90日 2,521 350
    

37,605 1,398
    

The Group has a policy allowing its customers credit periods 
normally ranging from 0 to 90 days. The Group does not hold any 
collateral as security.

The Group recognised impairment loss based on the accounting 
policy stated in Note 3.11. For detailed assessments, please refer to 
Note 41(a).

22. 應收賬項

以下為於報告期間末按發票日期或確認日

期呈列之應收賬項（扣除信貸虧損撥備）之

賬齡分析。

本集團設有政策給予其客戶一般介乎0至
90日之信貸期。本集團並無持有任何用作
抵押之抵押品。

本集團根據附註3.11所述的會計政策確認
減值虧損。有關評估詳情，請參閱附註

41(a)。
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23. OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS AND 
PREPAYMENTS

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Deposits 按金 16,144 3,773
Other receivables 其他應收款項 26,720 889
Other tax recoverables 其他可收回稅項 44,422 –
Prepayment — acquisition of plant and 

equipment
預付款項 — 購置廠房及設備

58,111 81,099
Prepayment — others 預付款項 — 其他 3,258 40,000
Interest receivables 應收利息 1,661 13,540
    

150,316 139,301
    

Represented by: 指：

Non-current portion 非流動部分 71,615 104,092
Current portion 流動部分 78,701 35,209
    

150,316 139,301
    

23. 其他應收款項、按金及預付款項
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24. TAX RECOVERABLE
On 15 June 2022, the Group received a warrant of distraint and/or 
levy (“WDL”) from BIR which directed its collection and enforcement 
team to distrain and/or levy on MSPI’s properties in relation to 
alleged deficiency tax for calendar year of 2015 (Note 12). MSPI filed 
an Urgent Motion to Quash WDL (“Motion to Quash”) to CTA on 
23 June 2022. In August and September 2022, bank balances of 
approximately Peso 426,000,000 have been garnished by the BIR 
upon receipt of warrants of garnishment by certain of MSPI’s banks. 
MSPI filed a Motion for Reconsideration (“MR”) on 19 January 2023 in 
response to rejection from CTA on MSPI’s Motion to Quash dated 19 
December 2022.

On 11 April 2023, MSPI received the CTA’s resolution which granted 
the MSPI’s MR and resolved that the WDL is being cancelled and the 
warrants of garnishment are lifted. Further collection by BIR or refund 
of garnished amount is suspended pending on judicial resolution of 
the case which is still pending for final decision of CTA upto date of 
approval of these consolidated financial statements.

Based on the advice of the independent legal adviser of MSPI, the 
directors of the Company believe that MSPI has valid legal arguments 
to defend the income tax and other tax disputes (including the 
alleged deficiency tax for calendar year of 2015) with right to request 
for refund of the garnished amounts when the judicial review 
complete. Alternatively, the garnished amounts would be utilised to 
settle income tax and other tax payable if MSPI lose in the income 
tax and other tax dispute in the highly unlikely situation. The amount 
accounted for as tax recoverable.

24. 可收回稅項
於二零二二年六月十五日，本集團接獲來

自 BIR的扣押令及╱或徵收令（「扣押徵收
令」），其中BIR就二零一五年曆年之宣稱稅
項差額指示其收繳及執行小組扣押及╱或

徵收MSPI之財產（附註 12）。MSPI於二零
二二年六月二十三日向CTA提交撤銷扣押
徵收令的緊急動議（「撤銷動議」）。於二零
二二年八月及九月，於接獲MSPI若干銀行
之扣押令後，銀行結存約426,000,000披索
已被BIR扣押。於二零二三年一月十九日，
MSPI針對CTA駁回MSPI日期為二零二二年
十二月十九日之撤銷動議提交重新審議之

動議（「重新審議之動議」）。

於二零二三年四月十一日，MSPI接獲CTA之
決議，其批准MSPI重新審議之動議及決議
取消扣押徵收令並解除扣押令。截至該等

綜合財務報表批准日期，BIR將暫停進一步
收取或退還扣押款項，以待案件的司法裁

決，而案件仍有待CTA作出最終裁決。

根據MSPI之獨立法律顧問的意見，本公司
董事相信，MSPI有確切法律論點就所得稅
及其他稅務糾紛（包括二零一五年曆年之宣

稱稅項差額）抗辯，並有權於司法覆核完成

後要求退還被扣押款項。此外，倘若MSPI
在極不可能的情況下於所得稅及其他稅務

糾紛中敗訴，扣押款項將用於結清應付所

得稅及其他稅項。該款項作為可收回稅項

入賬。
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES
(a) Contract assets

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Current contract assets relating to  
provision of hotel services

與提供酒店服務有關之

 流動合約資產 250 291
    

In case of room revenue, the guest pays the room charge 
based on the payment schedule. If the services rendered by 
the Hotel exceed the payment, a contract asset is recognised. 
If the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract 
liability is recognised.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date 
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. 
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected 
credit losses of the contract assets are based on those of 
the trade receivables as the contract assets and the trade 
receivables are from the same customer bases. The provision 
rates of contract assets are based on days past due of trade 
receivables appropriately grouped by similar loss pattern. 
The calculation reflects the probability weighted outcome, 
the time value of money, and reasonable and supportable 
information that is available at the reporting date about past 
events, current conditions and forecast of future economic 
conditions.

After applying the expected credit loss rate to gross amount 
of contract assets, the management considered that the 
provision of impairment loss of contract assets is immaterial 
and no expected credit loss has recognised.

25. 合約資產及合約負債

(a) 合約資產

就房間收入而言，客人按照付款時間

表支付房間收費。倘酒店所提供服務

多於付款，則確認合約資產。倘付款

多於所提供服務，則確認合約負債。

於各報告日期採用撥備矩陣進行減值

分析，以計量預期信貸虧損。計量合

約資產之預期信貸虧損所用撥備率乃

以應收賬項之撥備率為依據，原因為

合約資產及應收賬項乃源自相同客戶

群。合約資產之撥備率乃基於按相若

虧損模式適當分類之應收賬項之逾期

日數。有關計算反映概率加權結果、

貨幣時間價值以及於報告日期可獲得

有關過往事件、當前狀況及未來經濟

狀況預測之合理及有據可依之資料。

對合約資產總值應用預期信貸虧損率

後，管理層認為合約資產之減值虧損

撥備屬微不足道且並無確認預期信貸

虧損。
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Contract liabilities relating to provision  
of hotel service

與提供酒店服務有關之 
合約負債 628 690

Contract liabilities relating to  
loyalty programs

與忠誠計劃有關之 
合約負債 1,450 –

    

2,078 690
    

As at 30 June 2025, contract liabilities mainly represents (i) 
receipts in advance from customers of the Hotel operation 
and (ii) deferred allocation of revenues relating to incentives 
earned from the loyalty programs operated by the Group 
itself. The balance of the contract liabilities are expected to be 
utilised within a year.

25. 合約資產及合約負債（續）

(b) 合約負債

於二零二五年六月三十日，合約負債

主要指 (i)預收酒店營運客戶款項及 (ii)
與本集團自行營運的忠誠計劃所賺取

的獎勵有關的遞延收益分配。合約負

債餘額預期於一年內動用。
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25. CONTRACT ASSETS AND CONTRACT 
LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Contract liabilities (Continued)

Movements in contract liabilities are as follow:

Hotel service
Loyalty 

programs Total
酒店服務 忠誠計劃 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元

Balance as at 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日之結餘 1,493 – 1,493
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of 

recognising revenue during the year that  
was included in the contract liabilities at  
the beginning of the year

年內因確認計入年初合約負債之 
收益而引致之合約負債減少

(1,462) – (1,462)
Increase in contract liabilities during the year 年內合約負債增加 690 – 690
Exchange difference 匯兌差額 (31) – (31)     

Balance as at 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日之結餘 690 – 690
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of 

recognising revenue during the year that  
was included in the contract liabilities at  
the beginning of the year

年內因確認計入年初合約負債之 
收益而引致之合約負債減少

(715) – (715)
Increase in contract liabilities during the year 年內合約負債增加 628 1,450 2,078
Exchange difference 匯兌差額 25 – 25     

Balance as at 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日之結餘 628 1,450 2,078
     

25. 合約資產及合約負債（續）

(b) 合約負債（續）
合約負債變動如下：
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 
ACCRUED CHARGES

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Trade payables 應付賬項 1,209 4,133    

Other payables and accrued expense 其他應付款項及應計費用

— Unredeemed chips (Note) — 未贖回籌碼（附註） 12,727 1,967
— Interest payable — 應付利息 17,411 17,156
— Provision of Gaming tax — 博彩稅撥備 25,706 9,815
— Provision of Jackpot — 累積獎金撥備 19,014 12,796
— Professional services fee — 專業服務費 9,783 6,397
— Others — 其他 53,202 47,333    

137,843 95,464
    

Trade payables, other payables and accrued charges comprise 
amounts outstanding for the purchase and ongoing costs.

Note:  Unredeemed chips represent the amounts owed in exchange for gaming 
chips held by customers and gaming promoters which are generally 
expected to be recognised as revenues within one year. Decrease in 
balance generally represent the recognition of revenues and increase in 
the balance represent additional chips held by customers and gaming 
promoters.

26. 應付賬項、其他應付款項及應計費
用

應付賬項、其他應付款項及應計費用包括

採購及持續成本之未支付金額。

附註： 未贖回籌碼指為換取客戶及博彩中介人持有
的博彩籌碼而結欠的款項，一般預期將於一

年內確認為收入。結餘減少一般指確認收入，

而結餘增加則指客戶及博彩中介人持有的籌

碼增加。
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER PAYABLES AND 
ACCRUED CHARGES (Continued)

Movements in unredeemed chips are as follow:

Unredeemed chips
未贖回籌碼

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Balance at 1 July 於七月一日之結餘 1,967 –
Balance at 30 June 於六月三十日之結餘 12,727 1,967
    

Net increase during the year 年內淨增長 10,760 1,967
    

The following is an aged analysis of trade payables presented based 
on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period.

The average credit period on purchase of goods is 90 days.

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

0–30 days 0至30日 614 2,472
31–60 days 31至60日 230 1,565
61–90 days 61至90日 200 96
Over 90 days 超過90日 165 –
    

1,209 4,133
    

26. 應付賬項、其他應付款項及應計費
用（續）
未贖回籌碼變動如下：

以下為於報告期間結算日按發票日期呈列

之應付賬項賬齡分析。

採購貨品之平均信貸期為90日。
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27. 遞延稅項負債
年內確認之遞延稅項負債以及其變動詳情

列示如下：

27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
Details of the deferred tax liabilities recognised and movement 
during the year are listed as follow:

Accelerated 
capital 

allowance

Fair value 
adjustments 
on property, 

plant and 
equipment

Fair value 
adjustments 

on investment 
properties

Withholding 
tax on 

undistributed 
earnings

Unrealised 
foreign 

exchange gain Total

加速資本撥備

物業、廠房及
設備之

公平值調整
投資物業之
公平值調整

未分派盈利之
預扣稅

未變現
匯兌收益 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元 千港元

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年

 七月一日 39 4,488 90,434 14,134 26,624 135,719        

Credited to profit or loss for  
the year

年內於損益計入

– (1,369) (25,642) – (3,271) (30,282)
Reclassify of deferred taxation 

upon transfer of investment 
properties

轉讓投資物業時 
重新分類遞延 
稅項 – 61,283 (61,283) – – –

Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 – (557) (3,509) – (1,794) (5,860)        

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年

 六月三十日 39 63,845 – 14,134 21,559 99,577        

(Credited)/charged to profit or 
loss for the year

年內於損益 
（計入）╱扣除 – (6,030) (5,829) – 3,221 (8,638)

Charged to other  
comprehensive income

於其他全面收益 
扣除 – 4,795 – – – 4,795

Exchange adjustments 匯兌調整 1 (10,646) (94) 512 848 (9,379)        

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年

 六月三十日 40 51,964 (5,923) 14,646 25,628 86,355
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27. DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (Continued)

At 30 June 2025, the Group had estimated unused tax losses 
of approximately HK$567,279,000 (2024: HK$393,034,000) and 
deductible temporary differences of approximately HK$7,199,000 
(2024: HK$10,724,000) arising from certain companies within the 
Group that are suffering from losses for years available for offset 
against future profits. At 30 June 2025 and 2024, no deferred tax 
assets was recognised for such losses due to the unpredictability 
of future profit streams from these companies within the Group. 
Tax losses amounting to approximately HK$103,394,000 (2024: 
HK$113,837,000) may be carried forward indefinitely. The remaining 
tax losses will be expired as follows:

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Year 2024 二零二四年 – 21,018
Year 2025 二零二五年 15,551 15,319
Year 2026 二零二六年 2,394 2,359
Year 2027 二零二七年 244,145 240,501
Year 2028 二零二八年 201,795 –
    

463,885 279,197
    

27. 遞延稅項負債（續）
於二零二五年六月三十日，本集團有估計

未動用稅項虧損約 567,279,000港元（二零
二四年：393,034,000港元）及因本集團旗下
多年錄得虧損之若干公司引致之可供抵銷

未來盈利之可扣減暫時差額約7,199,000港
元（二零二四年：10,724,000港元）。於二零
二五年及二零二四年六月三十日，由於難

以預計本集團旗下該等公司之未來盈利來

源，故並無就該等虧損確認遞延稅項資產。

稅項虧損約103,394,000港元（二零二四年：
113,837,000港元）可無限期結轉。稅項虧損
餘額將於以下年份到期：
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS
The retirement benefit costs of the Group recognised in consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income are as follows:

Year ended 
30 June 2025

Year ended 
30 June 2024

截至
二零二五年
六月三十日

止年度

截至

二零二四年

六月三十日

止年度

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Hong Kong 香港 348 244
The Philippines 菲律賓 2,469 701
    

2,817 945
    

Pursuant to Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 
485, Laws of Hong Kong), the Group participates in a defined 
provident fund retirement benefit scheme in Hong Kong.

Under the relevant law in the Philippines, it provides a benefit to 
qualified employees but it does not require minimum funding of the 
plan. In the absence of any pension plan in the entity, the relevant 
law requires a provision for retirement pay to qualified employees.

28. 退休福利成本
於綜合全面收益表確認之本集團退休福利

成本如下：

根據《強制性公積金計劃條例》（香港法例第

485章），本集團於香港參與一項界定公積
金退休福利計劃。

根據菲律賓相關法例，規定向合資格僱員

提供福利，但並無規定計劃之最低撥款。

倘實體概無任何退休金計劃，相關法例規

定向合資格僱員提供退休金。
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Continued)

Defined contribution scheme in Hong Kong

The Group participates in a mandatory provident fund retirement 
benefit scheme in Hong Kong. The relevant scheme assets are 
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the 
control of the trustee. Under that scheme, the Group is required 
to make contributions pursuant to the Mandatory Provident Fund 
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485, Laws of Hong Kong). No forfeited 
contribution under the defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
is available to reduce the contribution payable in future years.

The Group’s contributions to the retirement benefit scheme in Hong 
Kong charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income for the year ended 30 June 2025 was approximately 
HK$348,000 (2024: HK$244,000).

Defined benefit scheme in the Philippines

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Net defined benefit obligations 界定福利責任淨額 3,696 1,082
    

The Group operates a funded defined benefit plan for the qualified 
employees of its subsidiary in the Philippines.

28. 退休福利成本（續）
香港界定供款計劃
本集團於香港參與一項強制性公積金退休

福利計劃。有關計劃資產以受託人控制之

基金持有，與本集團之資產分開單獨持有。

根據有關計劃，本集團須根據《強制性公積

金計劃條例》（香港法例第485章）之規定作
出供款。定額供款退休福利計劃下的沒收

供款不可用於減少未來年度的應付供款。

截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度之綜合

全面收益表扣賬之本集團向香港退休福利

計劃之供款約為348,000港元（二零二四年：
244,000港元）。

菲律賓界定福利計劃

本集團為其菲律賓附屬公司之合資格僱員

設有一項獲撥資之界定福利計劃。
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Continued)

Defined benefit scheme in the Philippines (Continued)

The defined benefit plan is administrated by trustee appointed by 
the respective subsidiary of the Company and is legally separated 
from the subsidiary. Under the plan, the qualified employees are 
entitled to retirement benefits equivalent to final plan salary for 
every year of credit service at the normal retirement age. There 
are no unusual or significant risks to which the retirement benefit 
obligations expose the relevant subsidiary of the Company. 
However, in the event a benefit claim arises under the retirement 
benefit scheme and the retirement fund is not sufficient to settle the 
obligation, the unfunded portion of the claim shall immediately be 
due and payable by the relevant subsidiary of the Company to the 
retirement fund.

(a) The amount included in the consolidated statement of 
financial position arising from the Group’s obligation in 
respect of its defined benefit plans is as follows:

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Present value of defined benefit obligations 界定福利責任現值 3,696 1,082
Fair value of plan assets 計劃資產公平值 – –
    

Net liability arising from defined benefit 
obligations

界定福利責任產生之負債淨額

3,696 1,082
    

28. 退休福利成本（續）
菲律賓界定福利計劃（續）
界定福利計劃由本公司相關附屬公司所委

任受託人管理，且此計劃於法律上與該附

屬公司並不相連。根據該計劃，合資格僱

員達正常退休年齡時，有權就每個信託服

務年度獲取等同於最後計劃薪金之退休福

利。退休福利責任並不會令本公司有關附

屬公司承受不尋常或重大風險。然而，倘

根據退休福利計劃提出福利申索而退休基

金並不足以支付責任，則該申索未撥付資

金之部分將即時到期，並應由本公司有關

附屬公司支付予退休基金。

(a) 本集團就其界定福利計劃之責任所產

生包括在綜合財務狀況表之金額如下：
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Continued)

Defined benefit scheme in the Philippines (Continued)

(b) Movements in the present value of the defined benefit 
obligations for both years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024 are as 
follows:

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

At beginning of the year 於年初 1,082 1,249
Service costs 服務成本 2,351 589
Interest cost 利息成本 118 112
Actuarial loss/(gains) 精算虧損╱（收益） 55 (802)
Exchange realignment 匯兌調整 90 (66)
    

At end of the year 於年終 3,696 1,082
    

(c) Movements in the fair value of the plan assets for both the 
years ended 30 June 2025 and 2024 are as follows:

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

At beginning of the year 於年初 – –
Actuarial losses 精算虧損 – –
    

At end of the year 於年終 – –
    

28. 退休福利成本（續）
菲律賓界定福利計劃（續）
(b) 截至二零二五年及二零二四年六月

三十日止兩個年度，界定福利責任現

值變動如下：

(c) 截至二零二五年及二零二四年六月

三十日止兩個年度，計劃資產公平值

變動如下：
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28. 退休福利成本（續）
菲律賓界定福利計劃（續）
(d) 於綜合全面收益表確認有關該等界定

福利計劃之金額如下：

界定福利成本2,469,000港元（二零二四
年：701,000港元）計入行政開支。重
新計量界定福利負債淨額計入其他全

面收益。

本集團亦在沒有退休金計劃之情況下

就退休福利責任之估計負債作出撥備，

涵蓋於菲律賓其他附屬公司之合資格

僱員。退休福利責任並不會令本公司

有關附屬公司承受不尋常或重大風險。

然而，倘提出福利申索，該責任將即

時到期，並應由本公司有關附屬公司

支付。

28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Continued)

Defined benefit scheme in the Philippines (Continued)

(d) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income in respect of these defined benefit 
plans are as follows:

Year ended
30 June 2025

Year ended
30 June 2024

截至
二零二五年
六月三十日

止年度

截至

二零二四年

六月三十日

止年度

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Service cost: 服務成本：
Service costs 服務成本 2,351 589
Net interest expense 利息支出淨額 118 112
    

Components of defined benefit costs 
recognised in profit or loss

於損益確認之界定福利

 成本部分 2,469 701
    

Remeasurement on the net defined  
benefit liability:

重新計量界定福利負債淨額：

Actuarial loss/(gains) 精算虧損╱（收益） 55 (802)
    

The defined benefit cost of HK$2,469,000 (2024: HK$701,000) 
has been included in the administrative expenses. The 
remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability is included 
in other comprehensive income.

The Group has also made provision for estimated liabilities for 
retirement benefit obligations, in the absence of any pension 
plan, covering the qualified employees of its another subsidiary 
in the Philippines. There are no unusual or significant risks to 
which the retirement benefit obligations expose the relevant 
subsidiary of the Company. However in the event a benefit 
claim arises, the obligations shall immediately be due and 
payable by the relevant subsidiary of the Company.
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28. RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS (Continued)

Defined benefit scheme in the Philippines (Continued)

(d) (Continued)
The most recent actuarial valuation of plan assets and the 
present value of the defined benefit obligations at 30 June 
2025 and 2024 were carried out by E.M. Zalamea Actuarial 
Services, Inc. and Institutional Synergy, Inc. (members of 
the Actuarial Society of the Philippines), the independent 
actuaries.

The present value of the defined benefit obligations, and 
the related current service cost and past service cost, were 
measured using the projected unit credit method.

(e) The principal assumptions used for the purpose of the 
actuarial valuation were as follows:

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

Discount rate 折算率 6.14%–6.74% 6.18%–6.89%
Expected rate of salary increase 預期薪金增長率 6.00% 6.50%
    

The discount rate assumption is based on the spot yield curve 
calculated from the market yields by striping the coupons 
from government bonds to create theoretical zero-coupon 
bonds as of the valuation date as at 30 June 2025 and 2024.

The actuarial valuation showed that the fair values of the 
above unit investment trust funds are determined based on 
mark-to-market valuation.

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit 
obligations is 13 years (2024: 10 years).

28. 退休福利成本（續）
菲律賓界定福利計劃（續）
(d) （續）

計劃資產最近期精算估值及界定福

利責任於二零二五年及二零二四年

六月三十日之現值由獨立精算師

E.M. Zalamea Actuarial Services, Inc.及
Institutional Synergy, Inc.（為Actuarial 
Society of the Philippines之成員）進行。

界定福利責任之現值及相關現有服務

成本及過往服務成本乃採用預計單位

計入法計量。

(e) 就精算估值使用之主要假設如下：

折算率假設乃基於自市場收益計算得

出之現貨收益曲線，此乃透過於二零

二五年及二零二四年六月三十日剔除

截至估值日之政府債券之票息以創造

理論零票息債券。

精算估值顯示，以上單位投資信託基

金之公平值乃根據按市值計價之估值

釐定。

界定福利責任加權平均期為13年（二
零二四年：10年）。
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29. SHARE CAPITAL

No. of 
shares of 

HK$1.00 each

No. of 
shares of 

HK$0.01 each HK$’000
每股面值

1.00港元之
股份數目

每股面值
0.01港元之
股份數目 千港元

Authorised: 法定：
Balance as at 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日之

結餘 2,000,000,000 – 2,000,000

Share sub-division (Note) 股份拆細（附註） (2,000,000,000) 200,000,000,000 –     

Balance as at 30 June 2024,  
1 July 2024 and 30 June 2025

於二零二四年六月三十日、

二零二四年七月一日及

二零二五年六月三十日

之結餘 – 200,000,000,000 2,000,000
     

Issued and fully paid: 已發行及繳足：
Balance as at 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日之

結餘 1,369,157,235 – 1,369,157

Capital reduction (Note) 股份削減（附註） (1,369,157,235) 1,369,157,235 (1,355,465)     

Balance as at 30 June 2024, 1 July 
2024 and 30 June 2025

於二零二四年六月三十日、

二零二四年七月一日及

二零二五年六月三十日

之結餘 – 1,369,157,235 13,692
     

Note: Pursuant to announcements on 2 May 2023 and 11 August 2023, with 
effective from 11 August 2023, (i) the capital reduction involving the 
reduction of the par value of each issued share of the Company (the 
“Share(s)”) from HK$1.00 to HK$0.01 by cancelling the paid up share 
capital to the extent of HK$0.99 per issued Share so that following such 
reduction, each issued share with a par value of HK$1.00 in the share 
capital of the Company shall become one new share with a par value of 
HK$0.01 (the “Capital Reduction”); and (ii) the sub-division, immediately 
following the Capital Reduction becoming effective, each authorised but 
unissued Share will be sub-divided into a hundred (100) unissued new 
Shares with a par value of HK$0.01 each (the “Share Sub-division”).

Upon the Capital Reduction becoming effective, the credit arising 
from the Capital Reduction was applied towards offsetting the 
accumulated losses of the Company as at the effective date of the 
Capital Reduction and the balance of any such credit remaining after 
offsetting the accumulated losses of the Company was transferred 
to retained profit of the Company. This resulted in a transfer of 
HK$1,355,465,000 from share capital to retained profit of the 
Company of the same amount on 11 August 2023.

29. 股本

附註： 根據二零二三年五月二日及二零二三年八月
十一日之公告，自二零二三年八月十一日起：

(i)股本削減，其涉及藉註銷每股已發行股份
0.99港元之繳足股本而將本公司每股已發行
股份（「股份」）之面值由1.00港元削減至0.01
港元，而於有關削減後，本公司股本中每股

面值1.00港元之已發行股份將成為一股面值
0.01港元的新股份（「股本削減」）；及 (i)拆細，
緊隨股本削減生效後，每股法定但未發行股

份將拆細為一百 (100)股每股面值0.01港元之
未發行新股份（「股份拆細」）。

於股本削減生效後，因股本削減而產生之

進賬已用於抵銷股本削減生效日期之本公

司累計虧損，而抵銷本公司累計虧損後任

何有關剩餘進賬額之結餘已轉撥至本公司

保留盈利。此導致於二零二三年八月十一

日自股本轉撥1,355,465,000港元至相同金額
之保留盈利。
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30. 承兌票據
於二零二四年三月二十九日，本公司全資

附屬公司 Fortune Growth Overseas Limited
（「Fortune Growth」）向持有人（「持有人」）
發行六份新承兌票據（「二零二四年承兌
票據」），持有人為獨立第三方，以換取過
往年度發行的到期承兌票據。在兌換二零

二四年承兌票據前，並無拖欠到期承兌票

據。二零二四年承兌票據的本金額各為

73,548,504港元，總額約為441,291,000港元，
相當於到期承兌票據的本金額及應計利息。

二零二四年承兌票據就未償還本金額約

441,291,000港元自其發行日期起直至本金額
獲悉數償還止期間按固定年利率6厘累計利
息。二零二四年承兌票據將於緊接其發行

日期滿第一個週年前的營業日到期及須全

數支付，且為無抵押並由本公司擔保。

於二零二五年三月三十一日，Fortune 
Growth向持有人發行六份新承兌票據（「二
零二五年承兌票據」），以換取二零二四年
承兌票據的到期債務。在二零二四年承兌

票據兌換二零二五年承兌票據前，並無拖

欠二零二四年承兌票據。二零二五年承兌

票據的本金額各為77,997,684港元，總額約
為467,986,000港元，相當於二零二四年承兌
票據的本金額及應計利息。二零二五年承

兌票據就未償還本金額約467,986,000港元
自其發行日期起直至本金額獲悉數償還止

期間按固定年利率6厘累計利息。二零二五
年承兌票據將於二零二七年三月三十一日

到期並須全數支付，且為無抵押及由本公

司擔保。Future Growth有權將二零二五年承
兌票據的償還期限延後至報告期結束後至

少十二個月，而本集團已於二零二五年六

月三十日將全部二零二五年承兌票據分類

為非流動負債。

上述承兌票據以港元計值，港元乃相關集

團實體（其功能貨幣為披索）之外幣。

30. PROMISSORY NOTE
On 29 March 2024, Fortune Growth Overseas Limited (“Fortune 
Growth”), a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company issued 6 new 
promissory notes (the “2024 PNs”) to the holder, an independent 
third party (“Holder”), in exchange for the matured promissory 
notes issued in prior years. No default for repayment of matured 
promissory notes before the exchange of 2024 PNs. The 2024 PNs in 
principal amount of HK$73,548,504 each and totalling approximately 
HK$441,291,000 represented the principal amount and accrued 
interest of the matured promissory notes. The 2024 PNs carry 
interest which accrues on the outstanding principal amount of 
approximately HK$441,291,000 from its issue date until repayment 
in full of the principal amount at the fixed rate of 6% per annum. The 
2024 PNs shall become due and payable in full on the business day 
immediately preceding the first anniversary of its issue date and is 
unsecured and guaranteed by the Company.

On 31 March 2025, Fortune Growth issued 6 new promissory notes 
(the “2025 PNs”) to the Holder in exchange for the matured debt 
under the 2024 PNs. No default for repayment of 2024 PNs before 
the exchange of 2025 PNs for 2024 PNs. The 2025 PNs in principal 
amount of HK$77,997,684 each and totalling approximately 
HK$467,986,000 represented the principal amount and accrued 
interest of the 2024 PNs. The 2025 PNs carry interest which 
accrues on the outstanding principal amount of approximately 
HK$467,986,000 from its issue date until repayment in full of the 
principal amount at the fixed rate of 6% per annum. The 2025 PNs 
shall become due and payable in full on 31 March 2027 and is 
unsecured and guaranteed by the Company. Future Growth has the 
right to defer repayment of the 2025 PNs for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period and the Group has classified the entire 
2025 PNs as non-current liabilities at 30 June 2025.

The above promissory notes are denominated in HK$ which is the 
foreign currency of the relevant group entity (where functional 
currency is Peso).
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31. 銀行借貸

附註：

於二零二三年九月二十五日，本公司旗下附屬公司

獲授銀行融資4,320,000,000披索，該筆銀行融資於二
零二五年六月三十日已獲悉數動用。該筆銀行融資

按一年期PHP BVAL Reference Rates +2%或年利率7.5%
的較高者浮動計息。

於二零二四年七月四日，本公司旗下附屬公司獲授

銀行融資50,000,000美元（「美元」）（相當於392,387,000
港元），該筆銀行融資於二零二五年六月三十日已

獲悉數動用。該筆銀行融資按年利率3.75%計息。

於二零二五年六月三十日，銀行借貸及銀行融資以

分類為物業、廠房及設備之本集團物業約518,664,000
港元（二零二四年：1,010,420,000港元）（附註15），以
及投資物業約336,000,000港元（二零二四年：零港元）
（附註16）、本集團若干銀行結存約403,809,000港元
（二零二四年：14,688,000港元）、本集團聯營公司之
若干土地使用權及公寓作抵押，連同本集團聯營公

司提供之財務擔保。借貸以攤銷成本列賬。

本公司旗下附屬公司須遵守下列每年測試的財務契

諾：

— 債務權益比率不多於2.33倍；及

— 償債保障比率至少達1.10倍

31. BANK BORROWINGS

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Bank borrowings — secured 銀行借貸 — 有抵押 990,067 578,360
    

Note:

On 25 September 2023, a banking facility had been granted to subsidiaries of 
the Company of Peso 4,320,000,000 which has been fully utilised as at 30 June 
2025. Interest is charged at variable rate at higher of one year PHP BVAL Reference 
Rates+2% per annum or 7.5% per annum in respect to this banking facility.

On 4 July 2024, a bank facility had been granted to a subsidiary of the Company 
of United States Dollars (“US$”) 50,000,000 (equivalent to HK$392,387,000) which 
has been fully utilised as at 30 June 2025. Interest is charged at a rate of 3.75% per 
annum in respect to this banking facility.

As at 30 June 2025, the bank loans and the banking facilities were secured by 
the Group’s properties as classified under properties, plant and equipment of 
approximately HK$518,664,000 (2024: HK$1,010,420,000) (Note 15), and investment 
properties of approximately HK$336,000,000 (2024: nil) (Note 16), certain bank 
balances of approximately HK$403,809,000 (2024: HK$14,688,000) of the Group, 
certain land use rights and condominiums of associates of the Group, together 
with financial guarantees provided by associates of the Group. The loan is carried 
at amortised cost.

The subsidiaries of the Company are required to comply with the following 
financial covenants which are tested annually:

— Debt-equity ratio shall not be more than 2.33x; and

— Debt Service Coverage Ratio of at least 1.10x
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31. 銀行借貸（續）
附註：（續）

於二零二五年六月三十日，非流動銀行借貸總額償

還計劃如下：

32. 可換股債券
根據本公司之全資附屬公司Baltic Success 
Limited（「BSL」）於二零一九年七月五日所
訂立涉及收購（「收購事項」）Oriental-Invest 
Properties Limited 100%權益之購股協議（「該
協議」），BSL於二零一九年七月五日發行
本金額為53,000,000港元之五年零票息可換
股債券（「債券」）。誠如本公司日期為二零
一九年四月三十日之公告所載，債券賦予

持有人權利按換股價1.01港元將債券轉換
為本公司普通股。

根據該協議條款，債券包括兩個部分：(i)主
體債務及 (ii)轉換衍生工具。本集團將兩個
部分確認為負債，原因是債券轉換衍生工

具不符合香港會計準則第32號項下「固定換
固定」測試。於發行日期，債券兩個部分之

公平值乃根據仲量聯行發出之估值報告釐

定。其後，主體債務部分獲分類為「按攤銷

成本計量之金融負債」及按攤銷成本計量，

而轉換衍生工具則獲分類為「按公平值計入

損益之金融負債」（「按公平值計入損益之金
融負債」）及按公平值計量，而公平值之變
動已於損益確認。

31. BANK BORROWINGS (Continued)

Note: (Continued)

At 30 June 2025, total non-current bank loans were scheduled to repay as follows:

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

The carrying amounts of the bank borrowings are 
repayable:

銀行借款的賬面值須於以下期間償還：

Within one year 一年內 59,933 –
More than one year but not exceeding two years 多於一年，但不超過兩年 119,865 86,754
More than two years but not exceeding five years 多於兩年，但不超過五年 810,269 347,016
After five years 五年後 – 144,590
    

990,067 578,360

Less: Amounts due within one year shown  
under current liabilities

減：流動負債項下所示於一年內 
 到期的款項 59,933 –

    

Amounts shown under non-current liabilities 非流動負債項下所示金額 930,134 578,360
    

32. CONVERTIBLE BOND
Pursuant to the share purchase agreement (the “Agreement”) for 
the acquisition (the “Acquisition”) of 100% interest in Oriental-Invest 
Properties Limited entered into by a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company, Baltic Success Limited (“BSL”) on 5 July 2019, BSL issued 
a 5 years zero coupon convertible bond with principal amount 
of HK$53,000,000 on 5 July 2019 (the “Bond”). The Bond entitled 
the holders to convert them into ordinary shares of the Company 
at a conversion price of HK$1.01 as set out in the Company’s 
announcement dated 30 April 2019.

Based on the terms of the Agreement, the Bond contain two 
components, (i) the host debt and (ii) the conversion derivatives. The 
Group recognised both components as liability as the conversion 
derivatives of the bond did not meet the “fixed for fixed” test under 
HKAS 32. At the issue date, the fair value of both components of the 
Bond were determined based on a valuation report issued by JLL. 
Subsequently, the host debt component is classified as “financial 
liabilities at amortised cost” and measured at amortised cost, the 
conversion derivatives is classified as “financial liabilities at fair value 
through profit and loss” (“Financial liabilities at FVTPL”) and 
measured at fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit 
or loss.
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32. 可換股債券（續）
於發行時債券主體債務之公平值按估計票

面利息付款及本金額之現值計算。計算所

採用折算率為10.01%。於各報告期末債券
轉換衍生工具之公平值採用二項式期權定

價模型釐定。二項式期權定價模型所採用

主要輸入數據如下：

債券已於二零二四年七月五日到期。本金

總額53,000,000港元已以現金悉數償付。年
內可換股債券變動如下：

32. CONVERTIBLE BOND (Continued)

The fair value of the host debt of the Bond upon issuance were 
calculated at the present value of the estimated coupon interest 
payments and principal amount. The discount rate used in the 
calculation is 10.01%. The fair value of the conversion derivatives of 
the Bond at end of each reporting period is determined using the 
Binomial Option Pricing Model. The key inputs used in the Binomial 
Option Pricing Model were as follows:

30 June
2024

二零二四年

六月三十日

Stock price (HK$) 股價（港元） 1.07
Exercise price (HK$) 行使價（港元） 1.01
Expected life 預計年期 0年
Expected volatility 預計波幅 92.67%
Expected dividend yield 預計股息率 0%
Risk free rate 無風險利率 5.66%

The Bond has reached maturity on 5 July 2024. The aggregate 
principal amount of HK$53,000,000 have been settled by cash in full. 
Movement for the convertible bond during the years are as below:

Financial 
liability at 

amortised cost

Financial 
liability 

at FVTPL Total
按攤銷成本

計量之
金融負債

按公平值
計入損益之
金融負債 總計

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元 千港元

At 1 July 2023 於二零二三年七月一日 47,055 4,593 51,648
Amortised interest for the year 年內攤銷利息 5,886 – 5,886
Fair value adjustments 公平值調整 – (1,385) (1,385)
     

At 30 June 2024 於二零二四年六月三十日 52,941 3,208 56,149
Amortised interest for the year 年內攤銷利息 59 – 59
Fair value adjustments 公平值調整 – (3,208) (3,208)
Redemption 贖回 (53,000) – (53,000)
     

At 30 June 2025 於二零二五年六月三十日 – – –
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33. 承擔
資本承擔
於報告期間結算日已訂約但尚未於綜合財

務報表入賬之資本開支如下：

34. 其他承擔
臨時牌照
本公司日期為二零二三年九月二十七日的

公告已詳細載列PAGCOR所要求的承諾及臨
時牌照的定義，主要承擔概述如下：

(a) 以 PAGCOR為受益人作出擔保債券
100,000,000披索（相當於約13,873,000
港元（二零二四年：13,740,000港元），
確保持牌人按時悉數匯款╱支付牌照

費；

(b) 須每月繳交牌照費，金額相等於下列

各項較高者：

(i) 下列各項之總和：

(a) 豪賭客賭桌所得總博彩收

益10%；

(b) 非豪賭客賭桌所得總博彩

收益20%；

(c) 電子博彩機所得總博彩收

益20%；及

(d) 賭團廳賭桌所得總博彩收

益10%，或

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for but not yet accounted for at the 
end of the reporting period in the consolidated financial statements 
is as follows:

At 30 June
2025

At 30 June
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Property, plant and equipment 物業、廠房及設備 239,263 11,342
    

34. OTHER COMMITMENTS
Provisional License

Commitments required by PAGCOR and definitions under the 
Provisional License have detailed in the Company’s announcement 
dated 27 September 2023 and key commitments are summarized as 
follows:

(a) to secure a surety bond in favour of PAGCOR in the amount of 
Peso100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$13,873,000 
(2024: HK$13,740,000) to ensure prompt and punctual 
remittances/payments of all license fees;

(b) to remit license fees on a monthly basis, which shall be an 
amount equivalent to the higher of:

(i) The sum of the following:

(a) 10% of gross gaming revenues generated from 
high roller tables;

(b) 20% of gross gaming revenues generated from 
non-high roller tables;

(c) 20% of gross gaming revenues generated from 
electronic gaming machines; and

(d) 10% of gross gaming revenues generated from 
junket tables, or
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34. 其他承擔（續）
臨時牌照（續）
(b) （續）

(ii) 最低保證份額（「MGS」）

(a) 自開展賭場營運日期起計

之二零二三年按月MGS每
月60,000,000披索；

(b) 自二零二四年一月至十二

月每月MGS 90,000,000披索
按年合計MGS1,080,000,000
披索；及

(c) 自二零二五年一月起，

持牌人匯付每月MGS為約
133,333,333披索，按年合
計MGS 1,600,000,000披索，

(iii) MGS須符合下列條件：

(a) 待臨時牌照項下博彩營運

全面控制權由 PAGCOR轉
移至持牌人後，自賭場開

展日期起計，MGS隨即適
用。持牌人須按臨時牌照

項下之規定支付每月牌照

費；及

(b) 然而，倘每月牌照費總額

低於MGS，則持牌人須向
PAGCOR支付每月MGS而非
每月牌照費總額。

由於自二零二四年五月九日

起，博彩營運全面控制權已由

PAGCOR轉移至暫時牌照持牌
人，因此於二零二三年並無按

月支付MGS每月60,000,000披索。

(c) 以 PAGCOR為受益人擔保之履約保
證，金額為 100,000,000披索（相當
於約 13,873,000港元（二零二四年：
13,740,000港元）），作為確保完成該項
目之履約保證；

34. OTHER COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Provisional License (Continued)

(b) (Continued)

(ii) Minimum Guaranteed Share (“MGS”)

(a) Monthly MGS of Php60,000,000 per month 
in 2023 to be computed from the date of the 
commencement of the casino operations;

(b) Monthly MGS of Php90,000,000 from January 
to December 2024 for a total annual MGS of 
Php1,080,000,000; and

(c) From January 2025 onward, the Licensee to remit 
a monthly MGS of approximately Php133,333,333 
for a total annual MGS of Php1,600,000,000,

(iii) Where MGS shall be subject to the following conditions:

(a) The MGS will apply once full control of gaming 
operations is transferred from PAGCOR to the 
Licensee under the provisional license computing 
from the date of commencement of the casino 
operations. The Licensee shall pay the required 
monthly license fees under the provisional 
license; and

(b) In the event, however, that the total monthly 
license fees fall below the MGS, the Licensee shall 
pay PAGCOR the monthly MGS instead of the 
total monthly license fees.

Since full control of gaming operations is transferred 
from PAGCOR to the Licensee under the provisional 
license from 9 May 2024, no 2023 Monthly MGS of Php 
60,000,000 per month was paid.

(c) to secure a performance bond in favour of PAGCOR in the 
amount of Peso100,000,000 (equivalent to approximately 
HK$13,873,000 (2024: HK$13,740,000) as performance 
assurance to guarantee the completion of the Project;
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綜合財務報表附註
For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

34. 其他承擔（續）
臨時牌照（續）
(d) 開設託管帳戶，而託管賬戶保留

結餘須達 50,000,000美元（相當於約
391,000,000港元），託管賬戶任何累計
利息並不計算在內。該項目發展之所

有資金須通過託管賬戶，而從託管賬

戶提取之資金須用於該項目，有關提

款須經持牌人授權及由持牌人執行；

(e) 就該項目作出總投資承擔不少於10億
美元（相當於約78.2億港元）及不多於
12億美元（相當於約93.8億港元）。該
總投資承擔包括土地收購成本、取得

開發權相關成本、建設、設備、發展

成本、融資成本及與完成該項目直接

相關之所有其他開支。自簽署臨時牌

照協議起兩年內，持牌人應將其對該

項目的總投資承擔的至少40%全數投
資並用於該項目的發展。

(f) 遞交實施計劃以供PAGCOR批准。實
施計劃包括（其中包括）開支時間表，

顯示該項目每項組成部分每年估計開

支。開支時間表須計入自臨時牌照協

議簽訂日期起計兩 (2)年內投資╱動用
總投資承擔40%；

(g) 遞交總發展計劃建議所需文件；

(h) 撤銷臨時牌照的理由，包括但不限於：

(a)未能遵守牌照之主要條文，且未能
在 90天內採取補救措施；(b)未能在
收到違約通知後30天內匯出牌照費；
(c)持有人破產或無力償債；(d)未經
PAGCOR批准延期而延遲建設或開發；
(e)倘債務權益比率超過70：30。於二
零二五年及二零二四年六月三十日，

本公司董事並不知悉任何可能導致臨

時牌照被撤銷的重大違規行為。

34. OTHER COMMITMENTS (Continued)

Provisional License (Continued)

(d) to open an Escrow Account which shall maintaining a balance 
of US$50 million (equivalent to approximately HK$391 million) 
without taking into account of any interest accrued on the 
Escrow Account. All funds for the development of the Project 
shall pass through the Escrow Account and all drawdowns 
of funds from the Escrow Account must be applied to 
the Project, and such drawdowns shall be authorised and 
executed by the Licensee;

(e) to make the Total Investment Commitment of no less than 
US$1.0 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$7.82 billion) 
and up to US$1.2 billion (equivalent to approximately HK$9.38 
billion) for the Project. The Total Investment Commitment 
comprises land acquisition costs, costs related to securing 
development rights, construction, equipment, development 
costs, financing costs and all other expenses directly related 
to the completion of the Project. Within two years from the 
signing of the Provisional License Agreement, the Licensee 
shall fully invest and utilise in the development of the Project 
at least 40% of its Total Investment Commitment for the 
Project.

(f) to submit for PAGCOR’s approval for the Implementation 
Plan. The Implementation Plan includes, among others, the 
spending timetable showing the estimated spending per 
Project component, per year. The spending timetable shall 
take into consideration the investment/utilisation of 40% of 
the Total Investment Commitment within two (2) years from 
the signing date of the Provisional License Agreement;

(g) to submit the documents required in the Master Development 
Plan proposal;

(h) grounds for revocation of the Provisional License, including 
but not limited to: (a) failure to comply with material provisions 
of this License without remedy within 90 days; (b) failure to 
remit license fees within 30 days from receipt of notice of 
default; (c) the holder has become bankrupt or insolvent; and 
(d) delay in construction or development without approval 
of extension from PAGCOR; (e) if the debt-to-equity ratio is 
more than 70:30. As at 30 June 2025 and 2024, the directors of 
the Company do not aware of any material non-compliance 
which might result revocation of the Provisional License.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
綜合財務報表附註

35. 關連人士披露資料
(a) 除此等綜合財務報表其他部分所披露

交易外，本集團於年內訂立以下重大

關連人士交易：

附註：

(i) 來自聯營公司之利息收入指來自應收

HVPHI及PBPI本金額分別為430,000,000
披索及290,500,000披索之貸款之利息
收入。

(ii) 向聯營公司支付之租賃付款指與HVPHI
及PBPI訂立之租賃協議，內容有關位
於菲律賓之土地、員工住宿及停車場。

(iii) 支付服務費指在籌備及執行綜合度假

區時提供顧問服務。

(b) 關鍵管理人員薪酬
董事及本集團其他主要管理層成員薪

酬於附註11披露。董事及本集團關鍵
管理人員薪酬根據個人表現及經驗經

參考本集團表現、行業薪酬基準及現

行市況釐定。

35. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES
(a) In addition to the transactions disclosed elsewhere in these 

consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into the 
following material related party transactions during the year:

Year ended
30 June

2025

Year ended
30 June

2024
截至

二零二五年
六月三十日

止年度

截至

二零二四年

六月三十日

止年度

Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
附註 千港元 千港元

Interest income from associates 來自聯營公司之利息收入 (i) 3,552 1,753

Lease payment to associates 向聯營公司支付之租賃付款 (ii) (6,043) (6,160)

Service fee payment to an associate 向一間聯營公司支付之 
 服務費

(iii)
(14,562) (11,927)

     

Note:

(i) The interest income from associates represented the interest 
income from loan receivables with principal amount of Peso 
430,000,000 to HVPHI and Peso 290,500,000 to PBPI respectively.

(ii) Lease payment to associates represented the lease agreements 
entered with HVPHI and PBPI for the land, staff accommodation 
and parking lot situated in the Philippines.

(iii) The service fee payment represented the provision of consultancy 
service in the preparation and execution of the integrated resort.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of the Directors and other members of 
key management of the Group are disclosed in Note 11. 
The remuneration of the Directors and key management 
personnel of the Group is based on the performance and 
experience of individuals and is determined with reference to 
the Group’s performance, the remuneration benchmark in the 
industry and the prevailing market conditions.
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For the year ended 30 June 2025
截至二零二五年六月三十日止年度

36. 支持綜合現金流量表之附註

(a) 現金及現金等值物包括：

附註：

(i) 受限制銀行結存指根據臨時牌照協議

用於發展該項目的託管賬戶內的資金，

其僅能用於該項目，並於該項目完成

時解除。該結餘預計於資產負債表日

起計12個月後解除，有關結餘分類為
非流動資產。

(ii) 餘額指原到期日為三個月或以下的短

期銀行存款，於香港及菲律賓按現行

市場年利率4厘（二零二四年：4厘）計
息的銀行活期存款、手頭及存放於賭

場供博彩營運的現金。

(iii) 餘額指原到期日超過三個月的定期銀

行存款，按年利率6厘（二零二四年：
年利率5.625厘至6厘）計息。以PAGCOR
為受益人的定期銀行存款100,000,000
披索（二零二四年：100,000,000披索）已
作為擔保債券質押。

36. NOTES SUPPORTING CONSOLIDATED 
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
(a) Cash and cash equivalents comprise:

At 30 June 
2025

At 30 June 
2024

於二零二五年
六月三十日

於二零二四年

六月三十日

HK$’000 HK$’000
千港元 千港元

Cash and bank balances (Note ii) 現金及銀行結存（附註 ii） 562,519 417,471
Restricted bank balances (Note i) 受限制銀行結存（附註 i） 390,741 411,027
Fixed bank deposits (Note iii) 定期銀行存款（附註 iii） 13,873 91,855
    

967,133 920,353

Less: — Fixed bank deposit with original  
   maturity of more than three  
   months when acquired

減：— 購入時原定到期日 
   超過三個月的定期 
   銀行存款 (13,873) (91,855)

— Restricted bank balances — 受限制銀行結存 (390,741) (411,027)
    

562,519 417,471
    

Note:

(i) Restricted bank balance represents fund maintain in an escrow 
account in accordance with the Provisional License Agreement for 
development of the Project, which can only be used for the Project 
and release when the Project complete. As the balance is expected 
to release after 12 months from balance sheet date, the balance is 
classified as non-current assets;

(ii) The balances represent short term bank deposits with an original 
maturity of three months or less, demand deposits in the banks in 
Hong Kong and Philippines carrying prevailing market interest rates 
of 4% per annum (2024: 4% per annum), cash on hand and cash 
keep in casino for gaming operation.

(iii) The balances represent fixed bank deposits with original maturity 
of more than three months carrying interest of 6% per annum 
(2024: 5.625%–6% per annum). The fixed bank deposit of Peso 
100,000,000 (2024: Peso 100,000,000) has been pledged for the 
surety bond in favour of PAGCOR.
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Particulars of Principal Properties
主要物業詳情

Location Existing use Lease term
地址 現有用途 租賃年期

1588 M.H. Del Pilar 
 cor. Pedro Gil, Malate Manila 
 The Philippines

Hotel and casino operations and leasing of properties Medium-term lease

1588 M.H. Del Pilar
 cor. Pedro Gil, Malate Manila
 The Philippines

經營酒店及賭場以及出租物業 中期租約




	Cover
	Contents
	Corporate Information
	Chairman's Statement
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Report of the Directors
	Corporate Governance Report
	Environmental, Social and Governance Report
	Independent Auditor's Report
	Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Particulars of Principal Properties
	Back Cover

